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ALLEN THOMAS,

VS.

UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

Plaintiff,

PORTFOLIO RECOVERY
ASSOCIATES LLC,

Defendant.

HAYES, Judge:

The matters before the Court are the Motion for Summary Judgment fil

Do

CASE NO. 12¢v1188-WQH-

WMc
ORDER

Plaintiff Allen Thomas (ECF No. 19)nd the Motion for Summary Judgment filed
Defendant Portfolio Recovery Assates LLC (“PRA") (ECF No. 21).

l. Background

On December 17, 2012, Thomas filed thsFAmended Complaint, which is the
operative pleading in this action. (ECF.N6). The First Ameded Complaint alleggs
that PRA filed a complaint in state couratst Thomas which violated the Fair D¢
Collection Practices Act FDCPA”), 15 U.S.C. § 1692t seq.and the Rosenthal Fai

Debt Collection Practices Act (“Rosentiat”), California Civil Code § 1788t seq

On July 2, 2013, Thomas filed his Motion for Summary Judgment accomg
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by evidence in support of the motion. (ENB. 19). On July 8, 2013, PRA filed i
Motion for Summary Judgment accompanied bgence. (ECF NA1). On July 22

2013, each party filed an opposition to the oppggiarty’s motion. (ECF Nos. 28, 29).

On July 29, 2013, each party filed a reply. (ECF Nos. 31, 32).

After review of the six briefs and evidence submitted by the parties, the
finds this matter suitable for resolution without oral argum&e€S.D. Cal. Civ. L.R
7.1(d)(2)!
1. Facts

ts

Cour

Thomas had a credit card account wittnBaf America and made charges and

took cash advances on the card. (Thomas &&4l, 28; ECF No. 7). Bank of Ameri
sent monthly statements to Thomas regaythe account, and he never disputed
of those statementdd. at 28-29. Eventually, Thomas stopped making payment
never paid off the account in fulld. at 29, 67-68.

When Thomas stopped paying, the accovag charged-off by Bank of Ameri¢a

)
job)

any

5 alnC

on April 30, 2009 and sold to PRA on Naonker 23, 2009. (Woodard Decl. 1 3t4;

ECF No. 23). Bank of America provided RRvith copies of account statemen
checks reflecting payments, and an “AffidafiSale and Certifideon of Debt” stating
that the unpaid balance on the accoutlhatime of charge off was $8,536.7@. 11
4-5.

On December 9, 2009, PRAd@ letter to Thomasfiarming him that PRA had

Its,

purchased the account frddank of America and notifying him pursuant to § 1692¢g
of the FDCPA of his right to dispute the delat. at 1 9. Thomas does not dispute that

he received the DecemberZ®09 letter, and admitted hevee sent a dispute to PRA

regarding the account. (Thomas Dep72i74; ECF No. 25). PRA sent additional

collection letters to Thomas on April 8010, July 22, 201Gnd August 23, 201Q.

(Woodard Decl. 11 10-12; ECF No. 23). A2Ren referred the account to CIR Law

Offices (“CIR”). Id. T 16.

! PRA’s motion for oral argument is denied. (ECF No. 34).
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CIR filed a complaint on behalf of PRagainst Thomas on June 9, 2011 in San
Diego County Superior Court (“State Court Complaint”). (First Am. Compl., Ex. A,
ECF No. 16 at 9). The S&aCourt Complaint was drafteon a form approved by the
Judicial Council of California, which contaibsxes that a plairffican check or leav

[1°)

blank. Id. The State Court Complaint assertadses of action for “Common Count

)

Id. at 11. Based upon the boxes thatdrecked, the “Common Counts” causeg of
action state:
E{%Rtliff Thgr%rggllia% (I:?aerﬁg\i/re}% Qt%sd(%?si_ LLC alleges that defendant ...
... on an open book account for mone?/.gtﬁrm}f\]/:/?tmr? tlrallgtlgosl#r..)./ Tour
Lo ot SR Gelendart romSER o pay P e Som o
$8,536.76....
Id. Two of the unchecked boxes contain aiddte middle of the box; the text beside
those two boxes states: “an account was statediting by and between plaintiff and
defendant in which it was aggd that defendant was indethto plaintiff,” and “money
[was] lent by plaintiff to defendd at defendant’s requestld.
On April 12, 2012, PRA filed a first ameraieomplaint in the state court actign.
(Mitchell Decl. T 3; ECF No. 22).
On May 16, 2012, Thomas initiated tlastion by filing a Complaint alleging
FDCPA and Rosenthal Act claims in this Court. (ECF No. 1).
On July 30, 2012, PRA filed a Requestismissal with the state court, which
stated that PRA requests the dismiss#out prejudice of the following two causgs
of action: “For money lent by plaintiff tdefendant at defendgs request; ... For
goods, wares, and merchandistl and delivered to defdant and fowhich defendant
promised to pay plaintiff.” (Mitchell Decl., Ex. C; ECF No. 22 at 32).
On August 1 and August 2, 2012, the staburt action went to trial on only ope
cause of action: account stated. (SG@dert Trans. at 12-13; ECF No. 21-2).
On August 29, 2012, the state court issaé8tatement of Intended Decision,”
which stated:

Based upon all the evidence, tloait finds that [PRA] has proved
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(ECF No. 19-2 at 27).

PRA “because the evidence produced by [PRaY established that the account stz
balance is zero, therefore no amount is owing to [PRAJ."at 30.

(ECF No. 16). The First Amended Complaint alleges:

that the account was stated wiltlle May 2009 statement.... The May 2009
periodic statement, Exh. #6, statkat the New Balance Total is $0.00.
At the first trial discussion of this document it was spoken of as a
charge-off document.... No evidenceswaceived in this case regarding
the appearance of, or details regardiogarge-off documents.’ [A]s the
case pro?ressed, it became clearfBxat # 6 was something significantly
different than a ‘charge-off documénihe evidence is that Exh. # 6 is

a credit card billing statement a copwdfich was mailed to the defendant
and was not disputed. This fits ttéfinition of an account stated. The
unusual difference is that the accostdted sets out zero as the amount
owing. This raised a number of questions in the mind of this judge, but
there was no evidence received thatld answer them. What the court

Is left with is evidence of an agant stated in which the account stated
balance is zero.

On October 5, 2012, the state cogdued a judgment for Thomas and aga

On December 17,2012, Thonfésd the First Amended Goplaint in this Court

In the ... Jun®, 2011 State CotComplaint ... PRA alleged that
PRA furnished ‘purchases and/oash advances’ to Mr. Thomas on a
credit card account issued by PRA, and that PRA was entitled to an awarg
of attorney’s fees....

In fact, PRA did not ever furnispurchases and/or cash advances’
to Mr. Thomas on any credit card, nor did PRA issue any credit card to
Mr. Thomas, and PRA had no legal basis to request attorney’s fees....

PRA did not list any creditor other than PRA in the ... State Court
Complaint, and by doing so PRA repeased that PRA was in fact the
‘original creditor,’ or the party issuing credit, to Mr. Thomas....

~ The ‘least sophisticated debtor’ would in fact be confused or
mislead as to the |dent|'g/ of theriginal creditor’ on the account alleged
by PRA in the ... State Court Complaint....

Inthe ... State Court Complaint, RRIso claimed a right to recover
$8,536.76 under a theory of Money Lent....

Neither PRA nor any predecessoif PRA lent money to Mr.
Thomas in this amount....

~ Furthermore, as there was accdunt Stated formed on the account
at issue in the amount of $0.00 tlizgcharged any 8r|or obligation, the
true amount due for a claim of Money Lent was $0.00....

Inthe ... State Court Complaint, RRIso claimed a right to recover
$8,536.76 under a theory ob@ds, Wares and Merchandise....
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Neither PRA nor any predecessdéPRA provided ggoods wares or
merchandise valued at this amount to Mr. Thomas without being paid....

~ Furthermore, as there was aocAunt Stated formed on the account
at issue in the amount 80.00 that discharged any prior obligation, the
true amount due for a claim of Money Lent was $0.00....

Inthe ... State Court Complaint, RRlso claimed a right to recover
$8,536.76 under a theory of Account Stated....

Mr. Thomas never entered into an account stated with PRA....

The true amount of the Account Stated at issue was $0.00, and wag
not $8,536.76.

Id. 11 18-30. In the First Amended Complaifitomas alleges that PRA violated {
FDCPA and the Rosenthal Acthomas seeks actual damages, an award of stalf
damages of $1,000 pursuant to the FDCPAtaadRosenthal Act, and attorney’s fe
and costs.
[I1.  Contentions of the Parties

Thomas requests that the Court entemsiary judgmentin Thomas’ favor ont
guestion of liability under both the FDCPAdthe Rosenthal ActThomas contend
that he has met his burdend&gmonstrating that PRA made false representations
attempt to collect a debt, in violati of 15 U.S.C. § 1692e, and PRA attempte
collect an amount not authorized by lawagreement, in violation of 15 U.S.C.
1692f(1). Thomas contends that, in the&te Court Complain PRA made thre
misrepresentations in PRA’s attempt to collect a debt from Thomas: (1)
misrepresented that [it was] the origicatditor for the account &sue, and failed t
disclose the true original creditor”; (FPRA misrepresented the amount recoverd
under theories of Money Lent and GopWgares and Merchandise”; and (3) “PH

misrepresented the amount due under all of th@ims.” (ECF No. 19-1 at 15, 16, 20).

Thomas contends that PRAdTailed to established a boinde error defense to any
Thomas’ claims.

PRA requests that the Court grant sumnjadgment in favor of PRA as t
Thomas’ claims. PRA contentlgt the failure to name tloeiginal creditor in the Stat

he
utory

eS

(0]
e

Court Complaint is not misleading or ma&tecause “the record shows that Thomas
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was well aware of his Accoumtith [Bank of America]” and “[t]he collection lette
sent by PRA identified [Bank of America] tiee original creditoand informed Thoma
that PRA had purchased the Account.” (Bd#. 21-1 at 7). PR contends that th
State Court Complaint did nallege causes of action for account stated and mone
because those allegations were next to baxaked with a dot rather than a che
PRA contends that Thomas’ “failure to plige the Account in response to the letter |
by PRA pursuant to section 1692g of theGHA means he is barred from suing P
on the grounds that the debt is invalidd. PRA contends that it has satisfied
elements of the bona fide error defense.
V. Standard of Review

“A party may move for summary judgmerdentifying each claim or defense-
the part of each claim or defense—on Wwsammary judgment is sought. The cg
shall grant summary judgment if the movahows that there is no genuine disputs
to any material fact and the movant is entitie judgment as a matter of law.” Fed.
Civ. P. 56(a). A material fact one that is relevant to @ement of a claim or defen
and whose existence might afféioe outcome of the suiGee Matsushita Elec. Indy
Co., Ltd. v. Zenith Radio Corpl75 U.S. 574, 586 (1986). Thwmateriality of a fact is
determined by the substantive law governing the claim or defeédms@Anderson v
Liberty Lobby, InG.477 U.S. 242, 252 (198@&}elotex Corp. v. Catret477 U.S. 317
322 (1986).

The moving party has the initial burden of demonstrating that summary jud
Is proper.See Adickes v. S.H. Kress & 208 U.S. 144,152 (1970). The burdent
shifts to the opposing party to providdmissible evidenckeyond the pleadings |

show that summary judgmeis not appropriate See Celotexd77 U.S. at 322, 324.

The opposing party’s evidence is to be beliewed all justifiable inferences are to
drawn in her favor.See Andersod77 U.S. at 256. To avoid summary judgment,

opposing party cannot restisly on conclusory allegations of fact or layee Berg V|

Kincheloe 794 F.2d 457, 459 (9th Cir. 1986).stead, the nonmovant must design
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which specific facts show that tleeis a genuine issue for trisdee AndersqQ@ 77 U.S.
at 256.
V. Discussion

“Seeking somewhat to level the playing field between debtors and
collectors, the FDCPA prohibits debtllectors from making false or misleadit
representations and from engaging inmas abusive and unfair practicedbnohue
V. Quick Collect, In¢.592 F.3d 1027, 1030 (9th Cir. 20XQuotation omitted). “Thg
FDCPA imposes strict liability on creditoigcluding liability for violations that ar
not knowing or intentional."McCollough v. JohnsoriRodenburg & Lauinger, LLQ
637 F.3d 939, 952 (9th Cir. 2011) (quotatiomitted). “In this circuit, a dek
collector’s liability under § 1692e of@#ifFDCPA is an issue of lawGonzales v. Arrov
Fin. Servs., LLC660 F.3d 1055, 1061 (9th Cir. 2011) (citation omitted).

In the First Amended Complaint, Thonakeges that PRA violated the FDCP
15 U.S.C. 8§ 1692e, prohibiting the “use [of] any false, deceptive, or misle

representation or means in connection wité collection of any debt”; § 1692e(2

prohibiting the “false representation of ..ettharacter, amount, @gal status of an
debt”; 8 1692e(5), prohibiting the “threat t&kéeany action that omot legally be take
or that is not intended to be taken”’16§92e(10), prohibiting the “use of any fa
representation or deceptive means to collecattempt to collect any debt”; and
1692f(1), prohibiting the “collection of any amount ... unless such amount is exp
authorized by the agreement creating the debt or permitted by law.”

“Whether conduct violates 88 1692e or 168&fuires an objective analysis tf
takes into account whether tleast sophisticated debtor would likely be misled
communication.” Donohue 592 F.3d at 1030 (quotation omitted). The “objec
‘least sophisticated debtor’ standard ... eesthat the FDCPA protects all consum
the gullible as well as the shrewd, ... tgearant, the unthinking, and the creduloy
McCollough 637 F.3d at 952 (quotation omitted). “The ‘least sophisticated de
standard is lower than simply examinimngether particular lzguage would deceive ¢

-7 - 12¢v1188-WQH-WMc
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mislead a reasonable debtor. The stanadésigned to protect consumers of be
average sophistication or intelligencer; those who are uninformed or naiy
particularly when those individuadse targeted by debt collector§sbnzales660 F.3d
at 1061-62 (quotations omitted). “At the satnee, the standard preserves a quot
of reasonableness and presumes a basgit of understandingnd willingness to rea

with care. The FDCPA does not subjelebt collectors to liability for bizarre

idiosyncratic, or peculianisinterpretations.1d. at 1062 (quotations omitted). “[F]al

but non-material representations are not likely to mislead the least sophisticate

consumer and therefore are not actionable under 88 1692e or 16@ichue 592
F.3d at 1033. “In assessifCPA liability, [the Court of Appeals for the Nin
Circuit is] not concerned with meredhnical falsehoods that mislead no one,
instead with genuinely misleading statemehnéd may frustrate a consumer’s ability
intelligently choose his or her responséd’ at 1034.

It is undisputed that PRA is a “debt @aitor” and the debt assue is a “debt
subject to the FDCPA. 15 U.S.C. 88 1692a(5)-(6 undisputed that the State Co
Complaint at issue is subject to the requirements of the FDE@&Donohue 592
F.3d at 1031-32 (“[A] complaint served directly on a consumer to faci
debt-collection efforts is a communicatisubject to the requirements of 88§ 1692e
1692f.”). The parties dispute whether that8tCourt Complaint contains a materia
“false, deceptive, or misleading represéta... in connection with the collection
[the] debt.” 15 U.S.C. § 1692e.

The State Court Complaint does not refeee Bank of America, the origingal

creditor. (ECF No. 16 at9-11). The Statmurt Complaint states that Thomas “bece
indebted to” PRA; Thomas “promised toyp#RA; “an account was stated in writif
by and between [PRA] and [Thomas] in iaHn it was agreed that [Thomas] W
indebted to [PRA]”; and “money [was]ne by [PRA] to [Thomas] at [Thomas]

-8- 12¢v1188-WQH-WMc
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request.? Id. at 11. Based upon the undisputed facts, the Court finds that the
to identify the true originatreditor in the State Court Complaint, and the indicatig
the State Court Complaint that PRA wae tbriginal creditor, constitute “fals
deceptive, or misleading representation[sh.connection with the collection of [th
debt.” 15 U.S.C. § 1692e.

Based upon the facts of this case adiagpo the least-sophisticated-consur
standard, the Court finds that PRA’s staents and omissions in the State Cq
Complaint are not “mere technical falsehodlost mislead no one, but instead [a
genuinely misleading statements that magthiate a consumer’s ability to intelligent

choose his or her responsddonohug 592 F.3d at 1034ee also Wallace v. Wagh.

Mut. Bank, F.A.683 F.3d 323, 327 (6th Cir. 2012) (“Drist courts have decided, al
we agree, that a[] false representatiorth&f creditor's name may constitute a fg

representation ... under Section 1692e,” winctld “cause[] confusion and delay i

trying to contact the proper party @ammning payment ... and resolution of {
problem.”) (quotation omitted). Aibugh PRA identified Bank of America

collection letters sent Decdyar 9, 2009, April 6, 201Quly 22, 2010, and August 2
2010 (Woodard Decl. 11 9-12, Exs. D-G; B4- 23), the 10-month delay between
final collection letter and thiding of the State Court Complaint and the statemen
the State Court Complaint indicating tiRRA was the original creditor render PRA
false, deceptive, or misleading represeatetiin the State Court Complaint mater
See Heathman v. Portfolio Recovery Assocs., IN& 12-CV-515-IEG-RBB, 201

2 The Court finds that the least sophisticated debtor could reasonably belig
PRA was assertln% the causes of action etk a box with a dot in the middi&ee
ECF No. 16 at 1I¢cf. Gonzales660 F.3d at 1062 (“[A] debt collection letter
deceptive where it can be reasblyaead to have two anore different meanings, or
of which is inaccurate.”) (c%_uotatlon omiile The evidence indicates that PRA

failur

nin

ve th

is
e
\'S

U7

counsel, who drafted and filed the St&teurt Complaint, beeved that PRA wa;
Decl., EX. C, ECFE No. 22 at 32 (PRA’s RequesDismissal of the “money lent” cau

asserting the causes of action marked lpxawith a dot in the middle. (Mitch?

e

of action—one of the two causes of actinarked by a box with a dot); ECF No. 19-2

at 8 (PRA’s state court case managemeatesient, stating that
g]()t|)l3l es an ... account stated cause[gcctfon,” which was marked by a box with
ot)).

-9- 12¢v1188-WQH-WMc
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WL 3746111, at *1, *4 (S.D. Cal. July 15, 20138ame, when prior collection lette
naming the original creditor were sent over a year prior to the filing of the state

collection complaint which failed to name the original creditof);Tourgeman \,.

Collins Fin. Servs., IngNo. 08-CV-1392-CAB-NLS, 2012 WL 3731807, at *7 (S

Cal. Aug. 29, 2012) (holding that failure igtentify the original creditor in the state

court collection complaint was nonhaterially misleading becausmter alia, the
contract attached to the state court complialentified the original creditor). Base
upon the undisputed facts, the Court finds that PRA’s false, deceptive,
misleading representations are material.
PRA contends that the “bona fide erraffirmative defense applies in this ca
(ECF No. 21-1 at 23-25). The bona fide error defense in the FDCPA provides
A debt collector may not be held liable in any action brought under this
subchapter if the debt collectdravs by a preponderance of evidence that
the violation was not intentionand’ resulted from a bona fide error

notwithstanding the maintenance mfocedures reasonably adapted to
avoid any such error.

15 U.S.C. 8§ 1692k(ckee alsdreichert v. Nat'l Credit Sys., In&31 F.3d 1002, 1OOE
t

(9th Cir. 2008) (“The FDCPA makes debtlectors liable for violations that are n
knowing or intentional. It provides a naw@xception to strict liability, however, fq
bona fide errors.”). The bofiide error defense is an affirmative defense, for which
debt collector has the burden of proddee Reichert531 F.3d at 1006. “A del
collector is not entitled under the FDCPAstbback and wait until a creditor make
mistake and then institute procedureprevent a recurrence. To qualify for the b
fide error defense under the FDCPA, the deliector has an affirmative obligation

cou

D.

pd
and/c

|92}
®

maintain procedures designed to avaidcoverable errors. ... The proced

res

themselves must be explained, along & manner in which they were adapted to

avoid the error.”Ild. at 1007.

PRA states that it “employs significgmtocedures that are reasonably adapted

to prevent it from filing suit against andividual who does not asvthe debt.” (EC
No. 21-1 at 24). However, PRA failsittentify any procedure PRA maintains whi
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Is reasonably adapted to avoid the specifigraat issue: failing to identify the origingl
creditor and falsely indicating that PRA ike original creditor in a collectign

complaint. The Court finds that PRA Haded to create a geme issue of materia
fact regarding the applicability of the bone fide error defénse.
The Court finds that PRA's failure toadtify the original creditor in the Stafe
Court Complaint, and the indication that PRA was the original creditor, constifute :
violation of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e.r Hee same reasons, the Court finds that
Thomas has established that®Rolated the Rosenthal AétSee Riggs v. Prober
Raphael 681 F.3d 1097, 1100 (9th Cir. 2012) (“The Rosenthal Act mimics or
incorporates by reference the FDCPA'gugements, including [§ 1692¢e], and makes

available the FDCPA'’s remedies for vittms. Thus, ... whether a ... notice violates
the Rosenthal Act turns on whether it vielathe FDCPA.”) (citing Cal. Civ. Code|8
1788.17). The Court grants Thomas’ MotionSummary Judgment and denies PRA’s
Motion for Summary Judgment as to PRA'’s liability under the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. §
1692e, and the Rosenthal Act.
I

I

I

I

I

® PRA also contends that “[e]ach [@fhomas’] claims must fail ..., because
Thomas never disputed the debt inp@sse to PRA’'s Decemb@, 2009 letter whic
informed him that he had the right to dispute the debt or angé)ortlon of it.” (ECF No
21-1 at 20 gcmn&;l,nter alia, Palmer v. I.C. Sys., Inc2005 WL 3001877, at *5 (N.D.
Cal. Nov. 8, 2005) (“{WJhere, as here,i& undisputed that the consumer neler
contacted the collector to cast the debt before the final collection attempt, plaintiff
cannot assert a cause of action under thEFE®based solely on the debt collectar’s
attempt to collect an invalid _debt."RTh_omas’ claim concerning PRA’s failure to
accurately disclose the identity of the amg creditor in the State Court Complajnt
does not constitute “a causé action under the FDCPA based solely on the gebt
collector’s attempt to collect an invalid debfalmer, 2005 WL 3001877, at *5.

* The Court does not reach Thomas’ misive arguments that PRA is liahle

under the FDCPA and the Rosenthal Act dualeged misrepresentations concerning
the amount recoverable or due. (ECF No. 19-T1 at 16—225).
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VI. Conclusion

ITISHEREBY ORDERED that Thomalslotion for Summary Judgment (EC
No. 19) is GRANTED, and PRA’s Motiofor Summary Judgment (ECF No. 21)|i
DENIED, as discussed above. Mter than thirty (30) daysom the date of this Orde
the parties shall file a joint status report identifying the remaining issues in this

DATED: August 12, 2013

G it 2. A
WILLIAM Q. HAY
United States District Judge
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